MINUTES UMATILLA COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION Meeting of Thursday, June 23, 2016 6:30 p.m., Stafford Hansell Government Center Hermiston, Oregon

| ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** | ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** |
|-------------------------|--|
| COMMISSIONERS | |
| PRESENT: | Randy Randall, Chair, Gary Rhinhart, Vice Chair, Suni Danforth, |
| | Don Marlatt, Don Wysocki, Tammie Williams, Tami Green, |
| | Clive Kaiser |
| ABSENT: | Cecil Thorne |
| STAFF: | Brandon Seitz, Carol Johnson, Tierney Dutcher |
| ABSENT: | Don Marlatt, Don Wysocki, Tammie Williams, Tami Green, Clive Kaiser Cecil Thorne |

NOTE: THE FOLLOWING IS A SUMMARY OF THE MEETING. A RECORDING OF THE MEETING IS AVAILABLE AT THE PLANNING DEPARTMENT OFFICE.

CALL TO ORDER:

Chair Randall called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. and read the opening statement.

MINUTES:

Chair Randall asked the Planning Commission to review the minutes from February 25, 2016 and March 24, 2016. Commissioner Marlatt moved for adoption of both sets of minutes as written. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Rhinhart. Motion carried by consensus.

NEW HEARING

LAND DIVISION REQUEST, #LD-5N-850-16, VADATA, INC APPLICANT, VADATA, INC. AND PORT OF UMATILLA OWNERS.

The applicant requests approval to replat approximately 55.28 acres in the Port of Umatilla Subdivision consisting of Lots 5, 6, 9 and adjusted Lot 8. The property is split between the City of Umatilla and County jurisdiction. The County will process the application subject to coordination with the City. The criteria of approval are found in Sections 152.695 through 152.698 of the Umatilla County Development Code, Section 3.146 of the Umatilla County Zoning Ordinance, and Sections 11-2-6 and 11-4-5 of the City of Umatilla Land Division Ordinance.

Chair Randall called for declarations of ex-parte` contact, biases, conflicts of interest or abstentions from any member of the Planning Commission. There were none. He called for the Staff Report.

Staff Report: Brandon Seitz, Assistant Planner, presented the staff report. He stated that application #LD-5N-850-16 is a Type III Land Division or Replat application. The replat is of Lots 5, 6, 9 and adjusted Lot 8 in the Port of Umatilla subdivision, recorded in plat book 15 on page 31. The application was submitted to the Umatilla County Planning Department on May 23rd, 2016. It was deemed complete on May 23, 2016 and Public Notice was sent to affected land owners and agencies on June 3, 2016. All of the lots in the proposed replat are located in the city of Umatilla's Urban Growth Area (UGA). Lots 6, 8 and 9 are within the City Limits. There was an intergovernmental agreement signed by the City of Umatilla and Umatilla County granting the county the authority to process the application and make a determination subject to coordination with the City of Umatilla. Bill Searles, City of Umatilla City Planner is present at the hearing and will be able to answer any questions directed toward the city.

Lot 5 is the only lot that is located in the UGA and falls under the county's jurisdiction. The standards of approval for lot 5 are subject to the Type III (Replat) Standards found in Section 152.695 through 152.698 in the UCDC. Lot 5 is Zoned M-2 (Heavy Industrial) from the County's 1972 Zoning Ordinance and subject to the dimensional standards found in Section 3.146.

Lots 6, 8 and 9 are located in City Limits and are subject to Sections 11-2-6 and 11-4-5 of the City's Land Division Ordinance. The lots within City Limits are also zoned M-2 but subjects to the City's Zoning Ordinance found in Section 10-5B-1 through 10-5B-5.

The Replat would reconfigure the 4 existing lots into 3 new lots. Replat Lot 1 would consolidate lots 6, 8, 9 and the southern portion of lot 5 into one large industrial parcel. Lots 2 and 3 would be the remainder of lot 5. It's anticipated that upon completion of this application the city will annex the southern portion of lot 5 which is currently in the county's jurisdiction into the city.

Commissioner Kaiser asked for an explanation on how Wetlands have an impact on land preservation measures. Mr. Seitz acknowledged that when the subdivision and subsequent development was approved on the parcel there should have been a Wetlands Land Use Notice sent to the Department of State Lands (DSL) at that time and was not done. It was not recognized to be located in a Wetlands area until he came upon the information while researching the application. This application does not propose any development on the parcel. The application is to move existing lot lines in a preexisting subdivision. Mr. Seitz contacted Jevra Brown, Aquatic Resource Planner with DSL, and she advised that since there is no ground disturbing activities involved with the replat, a Wetlands Land Use Notice is not required at this time. The Applicant and the City of Umatilla are aware that any future development in the area will require a Wetlands Land Use Notice and there will be measures taken at that time to mitigate or preserve the existing Wetlands. Commissioner Kaiser presented a series of images obtained from Google Earth dating back to 1996. He pointed out a water body that is present in the most recent image. He is concerned the three ponds present over time on the property have been built over, excavated and removed. He asked what will be done to preserve the remaining body of water. Mr. Seitz stated that we could look to add a condition, but that area is within City Limits and it would be up to the City to determine how they will preserve that portion of the Wetlands. For this application there is no ground disturbance so the Wetlands present at this time will remain in their current condition. Future proposals that come through the office will be subject to a Wetlands Land Use Notice.

Commissioner Danforth pointed out that the applicant submitted their application for the project indicating in three areas that there are no Wetlands. She questioned if it could be considered a complete and correct application. Mr. Seitz stated that his initial review to determine completeness is based on whether there in enough information to show that they meet all the standards. After deeming the application complete and doing research on the property it was discovered that Wetlands do exist on the property and it's shown in the National Wetlands Inventory. If this application was for a new subdivision, there would be many more steps taken to preserve or mitigate the impacts to the Wetlands. Unfortunately, the development has already occurred.

Commissioner Rhinhart asked if the City of Umatilla Planning Department has reviewed the changes to the lots. Mr. Seitz said they have reviewed the application but it will not go before their Planning Commission. If it is approved by the Umatilla County Planning Commission, then it will go through the City's standards and Recording fee.

Commissioner Kaiser asked more questions about the Wetlands on the property. He pointed out that the time progression photos of the property shows one of the ponds on the edge of the new complex next to the road has come back. He asked if there would be steps taken to put a boundary around it. Mr. Seitz said we could coordinate with the city to see what can be done to preserve the pond. He acknowledged that the pictures do show that it is trying to come back and will make a note that the Planning Commission would like to potentially add a subsequent condition, putting the property owners on notice that there will be a requirement around that for future development. It was determined the pod spans across lot 8 and lot 6. The maps provided by Commissioner Kaiser will become part of the record.

Commissioner Danforth asked if there are any utilities located in the easements vacated at lot 6. Mr. Seitz said there are no utilities there. The easement was originally created to serve the southern portion of lot 5. Lot 5 was created to serve as a railroad utility corridor, which is why it was originally designed as a long narrow lot, but that never took place. This replat would be taking the southern portion of lot 5 in and that easement would not serve any other parcel. It would be completely located within replat lot 1, therefore there would be no need for that easement. Commissioner Danforth said she wondered if there would be repercussions on changing that easement in the future, even

though it is not utilized now. Mr. Seitz said lot 5 is currently undeveloped and the portion where the easement is also (9:22:50)??at that location

Commissioner Danforth pointed out some spelling/grammatical errors in the findings document. The corrections were noted by staff and updates will be made. She mentioned that she has concerns about whether dimensional standards should be set, and if the easement on parcel two should be larger than 30° on parcel 3, serving parcel 2. Mr. Seitz noted that the property is in the City's UGA so it follows the City's Transportation Plan (TP). Most of the County's easements standards come from the County's road standards which are linked directly to the TP. For the County's standards, if we were to use them, we would call for a 30° easement because it's serving one parcel. If you look at the City's TP standards, they require 15°. After discussing with Bill Searles, it was determined the 30° easement satisfies both the county's and city's standards.

Commissioner Kaiser asked what is the buffer zone between a water body in a Wetland and where development can take place under normal circumstances. Mr. Seitz stated that the County's standard is 100'.

<u>Applicant Testimony:</u> Seth King, Land Use Attorney, Perkins Coie, LLP, 1120 NW Couch Street, 10th floor, Portland, OR 97209. Mr. King represents the applicant Vadata, Inc. The applicant's construction manager, Seth McGary, is also present to answer any questions. Mr. King clarified that lot 5 is currently owned by the Port of Umatilla. They have consented to the application and plans moving forward. The remainder of the property is owned by the applicant.

There are 3 primary purposes to the replat. The first was to reconfigure lots 5, 6, 9 and adjusted lot 8 into 3 units of land. The next two purposes have to do with extinguishing easements. He addressed Commissioner Danforth's concern with the 60' access and utility easement currently runs across lot 6. The purpose is to provide access to lot 5, but after the reconfiguration, lot 5 will become part of 6, 9, and 8 so it will have frontage on Beach Access Road and will not need a separate access easement at that location. Lastly, they wish to extinguish the blanket railroad corridor and access tract and utility easement. That will be deleted from parcels 1 and 2 but will remain on parcel 3.

The proposal has been reviewed by the City and County Staff and has been found to meet their respective approval criteria. The applicant concurs with the Staff recommendation and request approval subject to the findings and the staff report.

Regarding the Wetland issue, Mr. King wanted to reiterate that this proposal does not include any ground disturbing activity. DSL has received notification of the proposal and has determined that it does not require any further review. Future ground disturbing development will be subject to a Wetlands Land Use Notice and review in accordance with City codes. For this proposal, the Wetland issue is off the table and from the applicant's perspective, there would be no need for an additional condition because the Wetlands issue has been brought to the attention of DSL, the City, the applicant and they are all aware at this time. He pointed out that the applicant was not aware of the Wetland issues when the original structures were built on the property. The applicant is now moving forward with a Wetland Assessment & Delineation which will be reviewed as part of any future development.

Commissioner Danforth asked how the applicant is planning to forward with the Wetlands issue. Mr. King said the applicant is moving forward with a Wetland Assessment & Delineation of the site to determine which areas on the property are subject to regulation. In the areas where construction has already occurred, he is not sure. Commissioner Danforth commented that Commissioner Kaiser's research done with Google Maps shows that over time it is quite evident that there has been knowledge of the Wetlands and the disturbances to them. Mr. King said he is confident that will be addresses by DSL, as they are the agency with jurisdiction.

Commissioner Kaiser asked why there is a need for a replat if this is a Wetland issue. He asked if the site is deemed a Wetland, does that prohibit development of the site. Mrs. Johnson, Umatilla County Senior Planner said that is not necessarily true. There are mitigation measures that DSL will accept, but until there is a proposal it's difficult to make that estimate. Mr. King agreed. He said in some circumstances you are able to fill wetlands and mitigate for the impacts that would occur.

Applicant Testimony: Seth McGary, Vadata Inc., Construction Manager, 3200 Beach Access Road, Umatilla, OR 97209. Mr. McGary stated that the Wetland Assessment has been on the undeveloped part of the property. The assessment will be submitted to DSL in the next week. After review, DSL will provide a determination which will be used in making future plans. Commissioner Kaiser asked where the water comes from to make the pond on the southwest corner, next to the building. Mr. McGary said that's their storm drain pond and that is included in the Wetland Assessment. Commissioner Rhinhart asked what the plans for future use of the property are. Mr. McGary said that is sensitive information and he is not at liberty to discuss the details. If they do expand the use of the property it will be consistent with what is already on the property.

Opponent Testimony: No opponents.

Public Agencies: Bill Searles, City Planner, City of Umatilla, PO Box 130, Umatilla, OR 97882. Mr. Searles stated that the City of Umatilla supports the application. He has reviewed the report and determined that it meets the standards set by the City. The reason for the Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) is for the Umatilla County Planning Commission to make the decision on the replat, and if approved, will proceed through the City's process administratively. If there was no IGA, the applicant would have had to go through the Umatilla County process and then go through the process again to reconfigure the parcels with the City of Umatilla because part of the property is in the City and the other part is in the UGA, which is under the County's jurisdiction for land use requests. The IGA allows less redundancy and streamlines the process, without necessarily compromising any of the standards that they would otherwise have in going through the process twice.

Regarding the issue of the Wetlands on the property, Mr. Searles acknowledged that the City's administrative review procedures were lacking. The requirement that the City was to provide Wetlands Notice to the DSL was overlooked early on in the development of the property. The Administrative Review Standards with the city have been revised to ensure these types of issues are not overlooked in the future. At this time, the City is acutely aware of the issues of the Wetlands on the property, and the applicant has been informed. The applicant is working with the DSL in advance so they can sort out the issues and information regarding the Wetlands, prior to seeking approval for a site plan. Part of the process the applicant will go through in working with DSL will be to do a more refined delineation of those Wetlands. The City's agrees with the findings in the County Staff Report. All standards set by the City will be met after the replat has been recorded.

Commissioner Rhinhart asked if the City would be liable for any development that may have damaged the Wetlands. Mr. Searles said no. DSL may require the applicant to mitigate for the previously developed area as part of their mitigation plan moving forward. Commissioner Rhinhart noted that DLS is overly protective of existing Wetlands when a portion has been damaged. Commissioner Kaiser asked who brings the damaged Wetlands issue to the attention of the DSL. Mr. Searles stated that the DSL would contact the applicant directly after they receive notice of a pending development application from the City. Mr. Seitz stated that the DSL will go through a process of reviewing the National Wetlands Inventory map, which makes it clear that the delineation goes over the previous development.

Commissioner Rhinhart moved to approve Land Division #LD-59-850-16 with additional conditions set forth by planning staff. Commissioner Green seconded the motion. Motion passed 6:0.

NEW HEARING

<u>CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT REQUEST, #C-1264-16, RODNEY J. RAINEY</u> <u>APPLICANT, MICHAEL ATKINSON, OWNER.</u>

The applicant requests approval for a residential adult care facility for alcohol and drug treatment for up to 15 clients. The application is being processed as a Conditional Use Request for a convalescent home. The criteria of approval are found in the Umatilla County Development Code 152.616 (UU), 152.615 and 152.560.

Chair Randall called for declarations of ex-parte` contact, biases, conflicts of interest or abstentions from any member of the Planning Commission. Commissioner Marlatt said he and two other Planning Commissioners drove by the property to get a closer look on the way to the hearing. Chair Randall stated that reviewing the property is good information and he had no objections to that. He called for the Staff Report.

Staff Report: Brandon Seitz, Assistant Planner, presented the staff report. He stated that Rainey application for Conditional Use Permit (CUP) #C-1264-16 was submitted to the County Planning Department on May 16th, 2016. The application was deemed

complete on May 16th, 2016 and public notice was sent to affected land owners and public agencies on June 3rd, 2016.

The applicant is requesting approval of a CUP for a residential adult care facility for alcohol and drug treatment. The application is being processed as a convalescent home. The dwelling that the proposed treatment facility will be located in was previously used as a nursing home, established around 1966. Staff was unable to verify when that facility stopped operation. In 2008 a residential home (Adult Foster Care) was permitted for up to 5 patients in the second dwelling on the property. As of March 2015 planning approval for the facility has expired. The application being reviewed today is different from the old one and they will be using the first dwelling on the property.

Gina Miller, Umatilla County Code Enforcement Officer issued a warning letter on March 15, 2016 to the current owner of the property, Mr. Atkinson. There were questions regarding the number of people living onsite and if it was being operated as a boarding house without land use approval. A citation was never issued for that warning. The applicant has obtained a previous permit for the same use on a different piece of property a few months ago. Mr. Seitz wanted to reiterate that that Code Enforcement issue is separate from this new application. Pending approval of this application, the applicant is planning to purchase the property from Mr. Atkinson and he will not be involved with this proposal.

The Oregon revised statues (ORS) recognize 2 types of residential care facilities; a Residential Home and a Residential Facility. The Residential Home is allowed in any Residential Zone where single family dwellings are allowed. Residential homes permit 1-5 patients who are not required to be related and the application is processed as a Zoning Permit. The Residential Facility is permitted through a CUP and allows for 6-15 patients and is categorized as a convalescent home, nursing home and home for the aged. Mr. Seitz interpreted the code to treat this as a Residential Facility based on the size requested by the applicant. It is up to the Planning Commission's discretion to determine whether they feel the properly falls under the definition of Residential Facility.

The applicant has been in contact with the Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) and the Oregon Health Authority (OHA) for their drinking water permit. The criteria of approval are found in the Umatilla County Development Code 152.616 (UU), 152.615 and 152.560.

Commissioner Marlatt asked to clarify the use of the 2 structures on the property. Mr. Seitz stated that the larger dwelling located in the front was initially a nursing facility. The permit did not specify how large the facility was. After that facility was no longer being used, there was a residential home permitted in the second dwelling, a smaller manufactured home located in the rear of the property. Commissioner Marlatt asked if the applicant intends to use both of the facilities located on the property. Mr. Seitz said the applicant will only use the front, larger house for the facility.

Commissioner Kaiser asked about the property acreage requirements. He pointed out that it is located in a zone that requires a 4 acre minimum parcel size and the total acreage is 4.75 but it has two addresses. He asked if this means they are allowed to have two separate facilities. Mr. Sietz said there were 2 dwellings on the property when the zoning code came into effect; therefore the second structure is allowed to stay on the parcel as a non-conforming use. If one of the structures is removed at this point, we would not permit another structure to be built in its place. The minimum acreage does not necessarily dictate how many dwellings are allowed on a property.

<u>Applicant Testimony:</u> Rod Rainey, Applicant, 32408 Diagonal Rd., Hermiston, OR. Mr. Rainey stated that the blue double-wide manufactured home in the back of the property is an older model, approximately 1989. He said that larger front dwelling is stick built and it is the only one they will use to house the 15 patients. They will not use the back structure. The property is served by 3 septic systems and 1 well.

Commissioner Rhinhart asked if the facility will support the same people as the facility permitted before, at the other location. Mr. Rainey said yes. It will be operated as one treatment facility with two locations less than 2 miles apart. Some patients will graduate to the previously established facility. The new facility will be for intake and initial treatment of patients.

The Planning Commission had previously approved a CUP for Mr. Rainey's other facility. Commissioner Danforth asked Mr. Rainey to explain more about the operations at his other facility since we have new members of the Planning Commission since that hearing. Mr. Rainey stated that they opened in January of 2014. They started with 1-2 clients and within 6 months they reached full capacity at 15. They started as a coed facility, but now they operate as an all-male facility. Most of their clients come from the western part of Oregon and they don't have many visitors. Clients are prohibited from having vehicles and lights are out at 10pm. They have treated over 250 clients at the other facility. They have received letters of recommendation from state agencies and have about 70 clients on a waiting list at this time. They see a need for another facility at this time. Commissioner Danforth asked how long does the average client stay. Mr. Rainey stated that 60 days is the average.

Commissioner Marlatt asked how many people are on staff during the day. Mr. Rainey replied that there are typically 4 and there are no issues with parking for the workers at the new location. Commissioner Wysocki asked what the procedure would be if a client disappeared from the property. M. Rainey said they would find out more details from others, search the area, and contact the local sheriff's office to let them know. They are adults and are allowed to leave if they want, but that has not happened before. They have never even had a fight. Commissioner Green asked what the age range of the clients is. Mr. Rainey said 18 and older. Their oldest patient was 84 years old.

Applicant Testimony: Melissa Homan, 3245 Diagonal Rd. Hermiston, OR. Ms. Homan stated that she is the director of the facility on Diagonal Road for the last 2 years. She expressed that the clients that come to stay with them are clean and sober people. They

do not allow sex offenders. The clients want to be there, otherwise they wouldn't be there. She understands the neighbors' concerns but these are not bad people, they are just people who want to get better. They have never had a client disappear. They are comfortable where they are at and if they want to leave, they give them a ride. Families do not come visit often. She wants everyone to understand they are not junkies and drunks when they come to the facility, they are just people. They have been respectful to staff and each other. Commissioner Marlatt asked if they are allowed to leave on their own ever. She said no. They never leave without supervision. Commissioner Green asked if the clients are coming from prison to the facility. Ms. Homan said no, they typically come from detox, voluntarily. They have not necessarily committed a crime.

Opponent Testimony: Don Stauffer, 32801 West Walls Rd. Hermiston, OR. Mr. Stauffer prepared a packet on notes he distributed to the planning commissioners. He stated that he is the next door neighbor to the east of the property in question. He stated that he is not happy that 15 male drug addicts will be moving in next door. He has concerns about violence and theft and noted that many of the clients are already criminals. He argued that a drug and alcohol treatment facility is not permitted in Rural Residential zones, and this property is zoned RR-4. According to the Umatilla County Development Code (UCDC) 152.155, the Rural Residential zone is designed to provide lands to enhance the value of rural living and maintain a rural residential atmosphere while accommodating the demand for rural residences. Mr. Stauffer said a 15 bed drug treatment facility would do the opposite of maintaining a rural residential atmosphere.

Mr. Stauffer believes the fact that the UCDC does not directly address the operation of a residential care facility for drug and alcohol treatment means it is not an allowed use in the RR-4 zone. He pointed out that rest homes, homes for the aged, nursing homes and convalescent homes are allowed as conditional uses in the zone. He believes the drug and alcohol treatment facility does not qualify as a convalescent home and does not agree with Planning Staffs decision to process the application as such. Mr. Stauffer does not think drug and alcohol rehabilitation patients are recovering from sickness or debility, partially restored to health or strength. Convalescing is healing or growing stronger after injury, illness or surgery, most often staying off your feet. He does not believe recovering drug addicts are suffering from an illness or need to recover by resting. They are physically fit grown men.

Mr. Stauffer said that a convalescent home has to meet the requirements of UCDC 152.616 UU, which states that the activity must be compatible with adjacent land uses. According to Mr. Stauffer, the existing adjacent land use is raising children in a safe and healthy home. Mr. Rainey's website claims there will be various classes and outdoor activities for the clients. He is concerned that some clients may be hardcore drug users and are ordered by the courts to be there. They could get drugs delivered from an outside source or steal from neighbors to buy drugs. He believes this is not a compatible use to put 15 adult male addicts next to a home with several children.

Mr. Stauffer said the property is not fenced and he is upset that planning staff has not required fencing as part of the process. Currently, there are 2 partial fences and some old

barbed wire fencing. He is concerned that they have no enclosures keeping them on the property, so they can leave whenever they want. The findings state that Mr. Rainey has indicated reasonable measures will be taken to ensure impacts to surrounding properties are minimized. In making this statement, Mr. Stauffer said Mr. Rainey acknowledges that there will be an impact on surrounding property.

Mr. Stauffer is concerned about how the value of his home could be impacted by a drug and alcohol treatment facility operating next door. He referred to an article published by the National Association of Realtors in The Realtor Magazine titled, "Treatment Centers Can Impact Home Prices" (Friday, October 17, 2014). He explained that the article states that drug treatment centers reduce home values up to 17%. He believes the value of his home will decrease if the rehab facility is allowed. He believes the zoning codes are in place to preserve the character of the community, and that is not happening here.

Mr. Stauffer believes the Planning staff is making decisions based on random choice rather than reason. The fact that the drug and alcohol treatment facility is not listed as a conditional use in the RR-4 zone means it is not permitted there. Calling it a convalescent home and processing the application in that way is wrong. The planning findings states that the proposed facility would have the same maximum number of patients as a previous care facility (nursing home) the only difference would be the type of care received. Mr. Stauffer does not believe treating drug addicts is the same as treating senior citizens or people in poor health. He asked the planning commission to put the children first and protect them by rejecting this application.

Commissioner Rhinhart asked how long the nursing home has been on the property. Mr. Stauffer stated that it was there when he moved there. It has been operating on and off for years and sold several times. It is a large house with a lot of rooms on 4 acres with a mother-on-law suite out back. Commissioner Wysocki asked about the way he refers to the patients as hardcore drug users, and asked what the basis for that is. Mr. Stauffer stated that hardcore means they are not recreational users, this is his opinion based on experiences he has had. Commissioner Wysocki asked him where he would place a facility like this if he had the choice. Mr. Stauffer said he would refer to the zoning maps and put it in a place where commercial businesses are allowed. This is a commercial business and Mr. Rainey is there to make money. Chair Randall stated that the UCDC does not specifically address drug and alcohol treatment facilities because they do not account for every business allowed in every zone because businesses are constantly changing and evolving. He gave the examples of a spring water well facility or a cell phone store, which are both permitted facilities in certain zones but not specifically listed in the language of the code. Mr. Stauffer argued that a cell phone store would belong in a Commercial Zone. He said this treatment facility is a business and belongs in a Commercial Zone. Commissioner Danforth said it was already operating as a business. Mr. Stauffer stated that a nursing home is allowed in a RR-4 Zone, and a drug and alcohol treatment facility is not.

Chair Randall stated that the facility will be used for treatment of an illness, which aligns with the definition of a convalescent home. He believes alcoholism is an illness. Mr.

Stauffer said he believes the clients will be drug addicts and not alcoholics. Chair Randall stated that he should not make assumptions about the business without knowing for sure. Commissioner Rhinhart asked Chair Randall for his opinion on the matter of the property value decreasing due to the fact that the treatment center will be operating next door to Mr. Stauffer's home. Chair Randall has expertise in Real Estate. Chair Randall stated that Mr. Stauffer purchased the property after the property next door was operating as a nursing home. He pointed out that Mr. Stauffer was likely able to purchase the property at a lower value, due to that fact. Therefore, he does not see a direct impact. Mr. Stauffer said he is assuming he got a good price, but the article supports that property values are impacted by a drug treatment facility, not a nursing home. They are not the same thing.

Opponent Testimony: Mary Vaughn, 32847 W. Walls Rd. Hermiston, OR. Ms. Vaugh stated that she lives two doors down from the property with the nursing home. Her grandchildren often visit. For the last several months Mr. Atkinson has allowed for between 15-20 men to live on the property. She doesn't know these people and her granddaughter is not allowed to ride her bike away from the house now. The activity going on at the property at this time is out of control and that is a major concern. She acknowledged that people need help with addictions and has experienced family members who struggled with alcohol abuse for many years. She stated that she would like to see the property go back to a single-family residence. She feels like the property is somewhat isolated and rural which is not conducive to the idea of integrating people back into society. She feels there are other locations closer to town which would serve the facility better and allow them to participate in society. Commissioner Rhinhart said the purpose of it being outside of town is to keep people out of the city and contained to the property. Mrs. Vaughn said she has not been comfortable with what has been happening on the property and who is there. Chair Randall agreed. He said permitting the treatment facility would make for a more controlled environment. Mrs. Vaughn asked the Planning Commissioners if they would be ok with a drug treatment facility operating next door to their home. Commissioner Williams said she believes addicts are not the same people when using as they are when they are clean. She would feel comfortable with a facility like this next door to her because the residents are clean and not using drugs so their mind is straight. Mrs. Vaughn stated that 60 days is a very short period to be considered clean from drugs and it doesn't mean there won't be issues.

Opponent Testimony: James and Janice Beardsley, 32739 W. Walls Rd. Hermiston, OR, also representing her father Jeff Poole. Mrs. Beardsley stated that she and her husband James have experience working in drug rehabilitation facilities. As a nurse and recovering addict since 2001, she has extensive knowledge and experience regarding addiction and treatment facilities. She is concerned because in her work counseling drug rehabilitation patients she has seen dangerous behaviors. Her children's bus stop is by the road and she is not comfortable with it being 25 feet from the treatment facility's driveway. She believes addiction pulls a person back in and many addicts try to please people during treatment but in reality, they can't wait until they can use drugs again. The location is several miles outside of town and she does not see it as a good location for integrating patients back into a community. She is concerned about property value decreasing substantially if the application is approved.

Mr. Beardsley stated that he is concerned about staffing. He wants to know how many people will be on site and checking on the patients regularly. It only takes 5-10 minutes for something to happen. Chair Randall said the patients will not be reintegrating into our community. They are not from this area and they go home after treatment is over. Commissioner Williams asked if the facility Ms. Beardsley works at is for court ordered, or voluntary patients. Mrs. Beardsley said both, and both try to leave. If they are ordered by the courts they report them for leaving. They make documentation in the charts those who were voluntary, there is nothing else they can do. She feels opening the second facility will spread the staff thinner and make them less able to manage the patients responsibly.

Public Agencies: No comments.

Applicant Rebuttal: Rod Rainey, Applicant, 32408 Diagonal Rd., Hermiston, OR. Mr. Rainey stated that he feels they meet the definition of a convalescent home. He stated that drug and alcohol addiction is nationally recognized as a disease and they are treating that. People come there to recover from their illness. He is disturbed by the term "hardcore" being used to describe his patients. He said they are normal people who struggle with addiction and want to get better, not hardcore criminals. They are safe to be around and behave in a respectful way. If they choose to leave the facility, they choose to end their treatment. They do not do regular head checks because they are voluntarily there. Commissioner Rhinhart asked him to explain the screen process they use when they take in new clients. Mr. Rainey said it's a rigorous background check. They don't allow violent criminals or sex offenders. Commissioner Williams asked if they accept private pay and patients covered by insurance. Mr. Rainey said they accept both.

Commissioner Rhinhart asked if they prescribe drugs in the process of treatment. Mr. Rainey said they do not. If they come with a medically required prescription, the prescription is secured and administered by the staff as needed. They do not allow the use of methadone or other prescribed narcotics in their facility. Commissioner Kaiser asked if they perform urine analysis or blood tests to randomly screen for drugs in the patients. Mr. Rainey said yes. They alternate between saliva and urine tests so the patient is not sure what to expect. A positive test is a terminable offense. Commissioner Kaiser asked if the they have Alcoholics Anonymous (AA) or Narcotics Anonymous (NA) meetings at the facility. Mr. Rainey said no, but they take them to meetings.

Commissioner Kaiser asked if he would consider a fence. He said it would help ease the neighbors fears and protect the patients from being tempted by outside influences. Mr. Rainey said they don't have fences to keep anyone out or anyone in. They don't keep the doors locked during the day. It's not jail, people are free to go if they wish. Commissioner Danforth asked if they would consider a fence as a condition of the application being approved. Mr. Rainey replied that they already have a fence and there is no reason to lock anyone in.

Chair Randall closed the hearing for deliberation.

Commissioner Danforth said she views addiction as an illness and finds that the treatment facility meets the definition of a convalescent home. The people who are there are there voluntarily. She liked the idea that this is the first house they come to then move to the other facility closer to town as they earn privileges and advance in their treatment. She recognizes the neighbors' concerns but the history has been that the property had a nursing home previously and it will be operating in the same way. She would like to add fencing the property into the conditions of approval. Commissioner Marlatt pointed out that the fence would be useless, as the clients are free to leave if they want. A fence would not secure the facility any more than it already is. He believes these people are convalescent home. Commissioner Williams said she would like to add a condition that a fence be put up. Although it will not keep clients from leaving the property, it does create a division between the properties and a boundary that separates what is the neighbors and what is theirs. It would help the neighbors adjust to the change and add an additional sense of security.

Commissioner Rhinhart requested an annual review of the facility to be sure they are operating in a neighborly way. Chair Randall asked for more details about the fence condition. Commissioner Rhinhart stated that they should finish the fencing on the open side to match the other side that is currently fenced. Commissioner Kaiser requested a condition of approval be written to distinguish the use of the two dwellings on the property. The front dwelling will be used for the facility and the back dwelling will be a separate use. Mr. Seitz said he will add language specifying the use of only the front building. He will also add an annual review after 1-year then move to a 5-year review after that. The fence will be at least a 6-foot fence along the west side of the property leading to the shop.

Commissioner Danforth moved to approve the Conditional Use Permit #C-1264-16 with the added conditions. Commissioner Kaiser seconded the motion. The motion was approved 6:0.

OTHER BUSINESS:

None

ADJOURNMENT:

Chair Randall adjourned the meeting at 9:35 p.m.

Respectfully submitted,

Tierney Dutcher Administrative Assistant

(Minutes adopted by the Planning Commission on _____)